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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Selectmen
Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of
Pembroke, New Hampshire as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error,

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit, We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.



Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund and the aggrepate remaining fund information of the Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire, as of
December 31, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, schedule of funding progress
for other post-employment benefits, schedule of changes in the Town’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability, and the schedule of Town contributions on pages i-viii and 37-42 be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements, Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance,

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire’s basic financial statements. The
combining nonmajor fund and fiduciary fund financial statements are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements,

The combining nonmajor fund and fiduciary fund financial statements are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements, Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. In our opinion, the combining nonmajor fund and fiduciary fund financial statements are
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Vsl (Pl ) < O@WW@ IZs

Manchester, New Hampshire
October 31, 2018



TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year Ending December 31, 2017

Presented herewith please find the Management Discussion & Analysis Report for the Town of Pembroke
for the year ending December 31, 2017. The responsibility for accuracy of the data, the completeness and
fairness of this documentation (including all disclosures) rests with management, To the best of our
knowledge and belief, the data contained herein is accurate in material aspects. This report and its
content have been designed to fairly present the Town’s financial position, including the resuit of
operations of all the funds of the Town. All the disclosures necessary to enable and to assist the reader in
acquiring an accurate understanding of the Town’s financial activities have been included.

The Town’s management is responsible for establishing accounting and internal control structures
designed to ensure that the physical, data, informational, intellectual, and human resource assets of the
Town are protected from loss, theft and misuse, and to ensure that adequate accounting information is
maintained and reported in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
Management also strives to ensure that these assets are put to good and effective use. The internal control
structure is designed to provide reasonable assurances that these objectives are attained.

Overview of the Financial Statements

The financial statements presented herein include ail of the activities of the Town of Pembroke using the
integrated approach as prescribed by GASB Statement 34.

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Town of Pembroke’s financial
statements. The basic financial statements comprise three components;

1. Government-wide financial statements
2. Fund financial statements
3. Notes to the basic financial statements

This report also contains supplementary information in addition to the financial statements.
Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the
Town’s finances, in a manner similar to most private-sector companies.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the Town’s assets, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources with the difference reported as net position. Over
time, increases and decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial
position of the Town is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the Town’s net position changed during the
most recent fiscal year, All of the current year’s revenue and expenses are taken into account regardless
of when cash is received or paid.

Both of the government-wide financial statements have separate sections for two types of activities:



TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year Ending December 31, 2017

Governmental activities - represent most of the Town’s basic services

Business-type activities — account for the Town’s water and sewer operations and receive a
majority of their revenue from user fees,

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain the control over resources that have been
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Town uses fund accounting to ensure and to
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. The Town maintains three fund types:
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially
the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements,
However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus
on near-term inflows and outflows of expendable resources, as well as on balances of expendable
resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the Town’s
near-term finatecing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing
s0, our readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between the governmental
activities statement of net position and statement of activities.

The Town maintains several individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
governmental fund balance sheet and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund
balances for the General Fund and the TIF District Fund, which are considered major funds. Other
governmental funds are aggregated as nonmajor funds.

The Town adopts an annual appropriation budget for its governmental funds. A budgetary comparison
has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.

Proprietary funds provide water and sewer services to customers and charge a user fee. They are
presented on the accrual basis of accounting.

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside of the Town,
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of
those funds are not available to support the Town’s own programis.

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential fo a full understanding of the data provided in
the government-wide and fund financial statements.

ii



TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year Ending December 31, 2017

Required Suppiementary Information

The basic financial statements and accompanying notes are followed by a section of required
supplementary information. This section includes a budgetary comparison schedule for the Town’s major
governmental funds and includes a reconciliation between the reported activity of the revenues,
expenditures and transfers for budpetary purposes (Schedule 1) and the activity as presented in the
governmental fund financial statements (Exhibit D). The Town’s only major governmental fund with an
adopted budget is the General Fund.

This section also includes a schedule of funding progress for other post-employment benefits from
actuarial valuations, a schedule of changes in the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability,
and a schedule of Town contributions to the New Hampshire Retirement System,

Other Supplementary Information

Other supplementary information includes combining financial statements for nonmajor governraental
funds and the fiduciary funds,

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

Governmental Activities

The table below provides a summary of the Town’s net position of its governmental activities as of
December 31, 2017 compared with 2016,

017 2016
Current and Other Assets:
Capital assets $§ 15,221,282 $ 13,454,025
Other assets 17,524,756 16,946,076
Total Assets 32,746,038 30,400,101
Deferred Outflows of Resources 735,287 ) _997,344
Long-term and Other Liabilities;
Long-term obligations 7,926,255 5,099,414
Other liabilities 7,559,693 9,897,399
Total Liabilities 15,485,948 14,996,813
Deferred Inflows of Resources 142,270 76,248
Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 12,894,748 10,823,531
Restricted 262,423 1,292,272
Unrestricted 4,695,936 4,208,581
Total Net Position $ 17,853,107 $ 16,324,384

The Town’s net position totaled $17,853,107 at December 31, 2017, an increase of $1,528,723 when
compared to the end of 2016.
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TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
MANAGEMENT"S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Year Ending December 31, 2017

Approximately 72% of the Town’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets such as land,
buildings, and equipment less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets, Another 1% of
the Town’s net position is restricted in regard to how it may be used. For the Town of Pembroke, those
restrictions include those related to permanent funds. The remaining unrestricted portion represents the
part of net position of the Town of Pembroke that can be used to finance day-to-day operations,

Changes in net position for governmental activities for the year ending December 31, 2017 and 2016 are

as follows:

Program revenues;
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
Total program revenues

General revenues:
Property and other taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental revenue
Interest and investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Gain on sale of capital assets

Total general revenues and gain on sale of capital assets

Total revenues

Program expenses:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Interest and fiscal charges

Total expenses

Change in net position
Net position - beginning of year
Net position - ending of year

2017 2016
$ 832,993 $ 597,192
506,667 379,025
17,817 167,165
1,357,477 1,143,382
4,524,068 4,299,557
1,578,436 1,487,527
364,542 366,517
34,136 21,525
34,659 32,399
20,500
6,556,341 6,207,525
7,913,818 7,350,907
1,307,693 1,453,354
2,816,464 2,415,118
1,539,863 1,379,119
225,065 207,400
66,355 66,135
315,329 316,311
114,326 47,364
6,385,095 5,884,801
1,528,723 1,466,106
16,324,384 14,858,278
$ 17,853,107 $ 16,324,384

As shown in the above statement the Town experienced an improvement in financial position of

$1,528,723 on the full accrual basis of accounting,

Business-type Activities

The table below provides a summary of the Town’s net position of its business-type activities as of

December 31, 2017 compared with 2016,

iv



TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year Ending December 31, 2017

2017 2016
Current and Other Assets:
Capital assets $ 5,280,647 $ 4,944,092
Other assets 2,239,248 1,949,636
Total Assets 7,519,895 6,893,728
Deferred OQutflows of Resources 19,591 59,001
Long-term and Other Liabilities:
Long-term obligations 1,300,999 958,595
Other liabilities _ 117,147 109,126
Total Liabilities 1,418,146 1,067,721
Deferred Inflows of Resources 3,159 4,511
Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets 3,989,005 4,118,997
Unrestricted 2,129,176 1,761,500
Total Net Position $ 6,118,181 $ 5,880,497

The largest portion of the Town’s net position for its business-type activities reflects its investment in
capital assets, primarily utility plant in service and equipment less any related outstanding debt used to
acquire those assets, These assets are not available for future spending.

Changes in net position for the business-type activities for the year ending December 31, 2017 and 2016
are as follows:

2017 2016
Program revenues:
Charges for services $§ 1,910,273 $ 2,0357259
Total program revenues 1,910,273 2,035,259
General revenues:
Interest and investment earnings 601 439
Gain on sale of capital assets 17,102
Total general revenues and gain on sale of capital assets 17,703 439
Total revenues 1,927,976 2,035,698
Program expenses:
Water distribution and treatment 715,111 739,347
Sanitation 075,181 1,087,898
Total expenses 1,690,292 1,827,245
Change in net position 237,684 208,453
Net position - beginning of year 5,880,497 5,672,044
Nel position - ending of year $ 6,118,181 $ 5,880,497

The main funding source for business-type activities is the charges for services. Net position increased by
$237,684 in 2016 due to revenues exceeding expenses in the water and sewer funds.



TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year Ending December 31, 2017

Financial Analysis of the Town’s Funds

As noted earlier, the Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.

Governmental Funds
The focus of the Town’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows,
and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the Town’s financing

requirements, In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s
net resources available for spending at the end of the yeat.

General Fund

The General Fund is the main operating fund of the Town. At the end of the current fiscal year, the
General Fund had a total fund balance of $7,063,704. The fund balance components at year end are
detailed on page 34 of the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.

The General Fund balance increased by $869,124 from December 31, 2016.

TIF District Fund

The TIF District Fund accounts for the financial transactions related to improvements to the Soucook
River Tax Increment Financing District. Total proceeds from the issuance of tax increment financing
bonds and the bond premium of $3,500,000 were used to pay off the bond anticipation notes borrowed in

the prior year. The restricted fund balance as of December 31, 2017 is $2,048,646,

Other Governmental Funds

The total fund balance of $1,065,906 in the other governmental funds is designated for the purposes of the
individually established fund. The largest portion of this total represents the balance in the Ambulance
Fund ($664,472 or 62.3%) and the Conservation Commission Fund ($247,738 or 23.2%). Fund balance
of the other governmental funds decreased by $3,405 from December 31, 2016.

Proprietary Funds

The focus of the Town’s proprietary funds is on total economic resources, and changes to net position,
much as it might be for a private-sector business,

The Town’s proprictary funds had unrestricted net position of $2,129,176 at December 31, 2017, which is

an increase of $367,676 (or 20.87%) from December 31, 2016. The net investment in capital assets
decreased by $129,992 (or 3.16%) from December 31, 2016.
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TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year Ending December 31, 2017

Capital Assets and Long-Term Obligations

Capital Assets

The Town considers a capital asset to be an asset whose costs exceeds $10,000 and has a useful life of
greater than one year. Assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the course of their
useful life.

The Town’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activitics and business-type activities as of
December 31, 2017 amounts to $15,221,282 and $5,280,647, respectively. This investment in capital
assets includes infrastructure, buiidings and improvements, vehicles and equipment. See Note 6 in the
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements for a summary of all capital assets.

Long-Term Obligitions

During 2017, the Town had a reduction in general obligation bonds in governmental activities of
$395,732 from payments made during the year and amortization of the bond premium. In addition, the
bond anticipation note of $3,500,000 was paid off from the proceeds of tax increment financing bonds
and a bond premium.

The balance of the notes payable in the business-type activities decreased by $79,422 during 2017 from
payments made during the year. Other long-term obligations of $778,465 at year end represents funds
drawn down from a State Revolving Loan program to finance the replacement of the Bow Lane pumping
station, Subsequent to year end, the remaining funds were drawn down and a debt repayment schedule
was finalized.

The Town also reports a net pension liability. This unfunded liability as of December 31, 2017 is
$3,939,762.

See Notes 8, 9, 10 and 11 in the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements for a summary of all outstanding
long-term obligations,

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Budgetary information for the General Fund (a major governmental fund) is included in the Required
Supplementary Information section,

During the year, the original estimated revenues increased by $102,528, which represents grants accepted
in accordance with the provisions of RSA 31:95b of $141,063 less estimated revenue of $38,535 carried
forward to 2018. Also, the original budgeted appropriations decreased by $97,418. This decrease is the
net result of the unanticipated income of $141,063 accepted under RSA 31:95b less approved
appropriations of $238,481 carried forward to 2018.

Actual revenues and transfers in on the budgetary basis exceeded the budgeted amount by $474,404. This

is primarily due to receiving additional revenues of $275,703 from licenses and permits and $113,065
from charges for services,
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TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Year Ending December 31, 2017

The Town underexpended its budget by $451,731 or 6.6% of the total appropriations. Significant savings
were within general government ($166,755), public safety ($91,189) and highways and streets
($114,761).

Econgmic Conditions

The Town of Pembroke is a small bedroom community which abuts the communities of Concord,
Allenstown, Epsom and Chichester. A large number of residents still exist from the days of the woven
and textile mills, while most others commute to the City for employment. Pembroke is also the home of
Associated Grocers of New England, which is the largest taxpayer employing well over 300 people from
all of the sutrounding areas. In 2017, the Town after a successful vote of the residents, finalized
upgrading the infrastructure in their Tax Increment Financing District with the hope to increase its tax
base by attracting more commercial business to help maintain and stabilize the tax rate.

Each year the Town updates and reviews its Capital Improvement progtam. By updating and monitoring
future capital expenditures, the Town has been able to stabilize the tax rate and at the same time complete
some large scale road projects. Throughout the year, the Town is always looking at ways to streamiine
operations to be more efficient with an eye towards savings.

Contacting the Town of Pembroke’s Financial Management

This financial report is to provide our citizens and creditors with a general overview of the Town’s
finances and to show a measure of accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions
about this report or need to get additional information, contact the Board of Selectmen at, 311 Pembroke
Street, Pembroke, NH 03275, telephone number 603-485-4747.
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EXHIBIT A

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2017

Current Assets:

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Taxes receivable, net
Accounts receivable, net

Due from other governments

Prepaid expenses

Inventory

Internal balance
Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:

Non-depreciable capital assets
Depreciable capital assets, net
Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred outflows of resources attributable to net pension liability

Total Deferred Qutflows of Resources

Current Liabilisies:
Accounts payable
Retainage payable
Accrued expenses
Due to other governments
Deposits payable

LIABILITIES

Current portion of bonds payable

Current portion of tax increment financing bonds payable
Current portion of notes payable

Current portion of estimated lability for landfili

post-closure care costs

Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Bonds payable

Tax increment financing bonds payable

Notes payable

Other long-term ¢bligations

Compensated absences payable

Other post-employment benefits obligation
Estimated liability for landfill post-closure

care costs

Net pension Hability

Total Noncurtent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Property taxes collected in advance

Deferred inflows of resources atiributable to net pension liability

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets

Restricted
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

See accompanying notes fo the basic financial statements

1

Primary Government

Governmental  Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ 17,453,965 $ 742,173 $ 18,196,138
77,826 30,223 108,049
782,609 782,609
139,787 506,197 645,984
6,000 6,000
261 261
24,963 24,963

(935,692) 935,692
17,524,756 2,235,248 19,764,004
6,302,305 865,493 7,167,798
8,918,977 4,415,154 13,334,131
15,221,282 5,280,647 20,501,929
32,745,038 7,519,895 40,265,933
735,287 19,591 754,878
735,287 19,591 754,878
572,815 14,286 587,103
4,000 12,673 16,673
268,679 7,638 276,317
6,134,663 6,134,063
1,536 1,536
370,000 370,000
201,000 201,000
82,550 82,550
7,000 7,000
7,559,693 117,147 7,676,840
505,180 505,180
3,299,000 3,299,000
417,954 417,954
778,465 778,463
40,227 40,227
76,352 2,314 78,666
168.000 168.000
3,837,496 102,266 3,939,762
7,926,255 1,300,999 9,227,254
15,485,948 1,418,146 16,504,094
23,720 23,720
118,550 3,i59 121,709
142,270 3,159 145,429
12,894,748 3,989,003 16,883,753
262,423 262,423
4,695,936 2,129,176 6,825,112
3 17,853,107 $ 6,118,181 $ 23,971,288
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EXHIBITC

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEYW HAMPSHIRE
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

December 31, 2017

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Taxes receivable, net
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other governments
Due from other funds
Prepaid expenses

Total Assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Retainage payable

Accrued expenses

Pue to other governments
Deposits payable

Due to other funds

Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESQURCES
Uncollected property taxes
Property taxes collected in advance
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources

and Fund Balances

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

TI¥ Nonmajor Total
General District Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Funds Funds
$ 14915844 § 2,503,406 $ 34,715 $ 17,453,965
77,826 77.826
778,809 3,800 782,609
6,245 133,542 139,787
6,000 6,000
44,092 849,925 894,017
261 261
15,701,159 2,547,498 1,105,808 19,354,465
$ 15,701,159 § 2,547,498 $ 1,105,808 $ 19,354 465
3 66,254 § 494,852 $ 11,709 3 572,815
4,000 4,000
155,440 28,193 183,633
6,134,663 6,134,663
1,536 1,536
1,820,709 1,829,709
8,187,602 498 852 39,002 8,726,356
426,133 426,133
23,720 23,720
449,853 - - 449,853
261 44,201 44,462
164,233 2,048,646 53,989 2,266,868
1,987,895 943,749 2,931,644
268,047 23,967 292,014
4,643,268 4,643,268
7,063,704 2,048,646 1,065,906 10,178,256
$ 15,701,159 § 2,547,498 $ 1,105,808 £ 19,354,465
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EXHIBIT C-1

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2017

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (Exhibit C)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds,

Property taxes ate recognized on an accrual basis in the statement of
net position, not the modified accrual basis

Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
that do not require or provide the use of current financial resources
are not reported within the funds:

Deferred outflows of resources attributable to net pension liability
Deferred inflows of resources attributable to net pension liability

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds. Long-term liabilities at year
end consist of!

Bonds payable

Tax increment financing bonds payable

Accrued interest on long-term obligations
Compensated absences payable

Other post-employment benefits obligation
Estimated lability for landfill post-closure care costs

Net pension liability

Net Position of Governmental Activities (Exhibit A)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
4

$ 10,178,256

15,221,282

426,133

735,287
(118,550)

(875,180)
(3,500,000)
(85,046)
(40,227)
(76,352)
(175,000)
(3,837,496)

$ 17853107



EXHIBIT D

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmengal Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Revenues:
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Interest and investment income
Miscellaneous
Total Revenues

Expenditures;

Current operations:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation

Capital cutlay

Debt service:

Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges
Total Expenditures

Excess of revenues over
{under) expenditutes

Other financing sources (uses):
Proceeds from bond issuance
Bond premium
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balances at beginning of year

Fund balances at end of year

TIF Nonmajor Total
General District Governmental  Governmental

Fund Fund Funds Funds
$ 4124656 § 379,387 § 13,500 § 4,517,543
1,578,436 1,578,436
696,427 192,569 889,026
257,367 552,836 810,203
27,563 3,406 3,167 34,136
35,159 22.790 57,949
6,719,608 382,793 784,892 7,887,293
1,211,088 1,211,088
1,778,340 928,949 2,707,289
1,096,692 1,096,692
232,065 232,065
62,986 3,500 66,486
266,834 44,875 311,759
580,017 1,593,423 1,275 2,174,715
380,000 3,500,000 3,880,000
52,110 29,050 81,160
5,660,182 5,122,473 978,599 11,761,254
1,059,426 (4,739,680} (193,707) (3,873,961)
3,001,000 3,001,000
499,000 499,000
36,330 226,632 262,562
(226,632) (36,330) (262,962)
{190,302) 3,500,000 190,302 3,500,000
869,124 (1,239,680) (3,405) (373,961)
6,194,580 3,288,326 1,069.311 10,552,217
$ 7,063,704 § 2,048,646 § 1,065906 % 10,178,256

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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EXHIBIT D-1

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Net Change in Fund Balances--Total Governmental Funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Governmental funds repert capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement
of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as
depreciation expense, This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation
expense in the current period.

Governmental funds only report the disposal of assets to the extent proceeds are received
from the sale. In the statement of activities, a gain or loss is reported for each disposal.
This is the amount of the gain of disposed capital assets reduced by the actual proceeds
received from the disposal,

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources
are not reported as revenues in the funds. These revenue sources are from property taxes.

Repayment of principal on long-term obligations is an expenditure in the governmental funds,
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. Repayments
in the current year are as follows:

Bond principal paid
Bond anticipation note principal paid

Proceeds from bond issuances are an other financing source in the funds, but increases
long-term liabilities in the statement of net position,

Governmental funds report the effect of bond issuance premiums when debt is first issued,
whereas these amounts are amortized in the statement of activities over the life of the related
debt. The current year activity is as follows:

Proceeds of bond issuance premium
Amortization of bond issuance premium

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds, whereas in
governmental funds, an interest expenditure is reported when due.

Governmental funds report pension contributions as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities, pension expense reflects the changes in the net pension liability
and related deferred outflows and inflows of resources, and does not require the use of
current financial resources. This is the amount by which pension expense exceeded
pension contributions in the current period.

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the usc of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
These expenses are from the following activites:

Compensated absences
Other post-employment benefits
Estimated liability for landfill post-closute care costs

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities (Exhibit B)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
6

(373,961)

1,747,257

20,000

6,525

380,000

3,500,000

(3,001,000)

(499,000)

15,732

(48,898)

(223,242)

(3,815)
2,125

7,000

$

1,528,723



EXHIBIT E

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2017

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other funds
Inventory
Total Current Assets

MNoncurrent Assets:
Non-depreciable capital assets
Depreciable capital agsets, net

Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets

DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of resources attributable to net pension liability
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Retainage payable
Accrued expenses
Current portion of note payable
Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Note payable
Other long-term obligations
Other post-employment benefits obligation
Net pension liability
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources atiributable to net pension liability
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total Net Positien

Business-type Activities

Water Sewer

Fund Fund Totals
$ 54,628 $ 687,545 § 142,173
30,223 30,223
188,203 317,994 506,197
422,114 513,578 935,692
24,963 24,963
720,131 1,519,117 2,239,248
31,935 833,558 865,493
3,202,458 1,212,696 4,415,154
3,234,393 2,046,254 5,280,647
3,954,524 3,565,371 7,519,895
o 19,591 19,591
- 19,591 19,591
4,466 9,820 14,286
12,673 12,673
1,206 6,432 7,638
82,550 82,550
88,222 28,925 117,147
417,954 417,954
778,465 778,465
2,314 2,314
102,266 102,266
417,954 883,045 1,300,999
506,176 911,970 1,418,146
3,159 3,159
- 3,159 3,159
2,733,889 1,255,116 3,989,005
714,459 1,414,717 2,129,176
$ 3,448,348 $ 2,669,833 $ 6,118,181

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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EXHIBIT F

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Business-type Activities

Water Sewer
Fund Fund Totals
Operating revenues:
Charges for services, net $ 832,031 $ 1,072,920 $ 1,904,951
Miscellaneous revenues 2,457 2,865 5,322
Total operating revenues 834,488 1,075,785 1,910,273
Operating expenses:
Personnel services 289,060 39,366 328,426
Contractual services 41,666 667,156 708,822
‘Materials and supplies 88,087 2,812 90,899
Maintenance and repairs 8,350 91,069 99,419
Utilities 74,550 18,525 93,075
Depreciation 155,567 130,485 286,052
Miscellaneous expenses 37,497 19,859 57,356
Total operating expenses 694,777 969,272 1,664,049
Operating income 139,711 106,513 246,224
Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets 17,102 (5,909) 11,193
Interest revenue 230 371 601
Interest expense (20,334) {20,334)
Net non-operating revenues (expenses) (3,002) (5,538) {8,540)
Change in net position 136,709 100,975 237,684
Total net position at beginning of year 3,311,639 2,568,858 5,880,497
Total net position at end of year $ 3,448,348 $ 2,669,833 3 6,118,181

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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EXHIBIT G

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to suppliers
Cash paid to employees
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities;
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Purchases of capital assets
Proceeds of other long-term obligations
Principal paid on long-term debt
Interest paid on long-term debt
Net cash provided (used) for capital and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities;
Purchase of investments
Interest on investments
Net cash provided by investing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginming of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Change in deferred outflows related fo pension
Change in deferred inflows related to pension
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other post-employment benefits obligation
Net pension liability
Net cash provided by operating activities

Non-cash transactions affecting financial position:
Capital asset additions included in year end liabilities
Capitalized interest during construction

See accompanying notes fo the basic financial statements
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Business-type Activities

Water Sewer

Fund Fund Totals
$ 844,556 $ 1,077,026 $ 1,921,582
(319,277) (834,673) (1,153,950)
{220,818) (87,725) (308,543)
304,461 154,628 459,089
23,000 10,380 33,380
(195,084) (452,272) {647,356)
554,963 554,963
(79,422) (79,422}
(20,334) (20,334)
{271,840} 113,071 (158,769)
{196) {196)
230 371 601
34 371 403
32,655 268,070 300,725
444,087 933,053 1,377,140
$ 476,742 $ 1,201,123 $ 1,677,865
§ 139,711 $ 106,513 $ 246,224
155,567 130,485 286,052
39,410 39,410
(1,352) (1,352}
10,068 1,241 11,309
422 8,393 7,971
(463) (463)
{489) (489)
(129,571 {129,573)
$ 304,461 $ 154,628 $ 459,089
5 12,673 b 12,673
6,432 6,432
$ - $ 19,105 § 19,105




EXHIBITH

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds

December 31, 2017

Agency
Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,051,343
Investments 988,126
Total Assets $ 2,039,469
LIABILITIES

Deposits $ 35,769
Due to other governments 2,003,700
Total Liabilities $ 2,039,469

See qeccompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2017

NOTE 1-—-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies of the Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire conform to accounting policies
generally accepted in the United States of America for local governmental units, except as indicated
hereinafter. The following is a summary of significant accounting policies.

Financial Reporting Entity

The Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire (the “Town”) was incorporated in 1759. The Town operates
under the Town Meeting/Board of Selectmen form of government and performs local governmental
functions authorized by State law.

The financial statements include those of the various departments governed by the Board of Selectmen
and other officials with financial responsibility. The Town has no other separate organizational units,
which meet criteria for inclusion in the financial statements as defined by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB).

Basis of Presentation

The Town’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of
net position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more detailed
level of financial information.

1. Government-Wide Financial Statements:

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the Town as a
whole. These statements include the financial activities of the primary government, except for fiduciary
funds,

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type
activities of the Town at year end, The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct
expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the Town’s governmental and business-
type activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program or
department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include charges
paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program, and interest earned
on grants that is required to be used to support a particular program. Revenues which are not classified as
program revenues are presented as general revenues of the Town. The comparison of direct expenses with
program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental function is self-financing or draws
from the general revenues of the Town.

2. Fund Financial Statements:
During the year, the Town segregates transactions related to certain Town functions or activities in

separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial
statements are designed to present financial information of the Town at this more detailed level. The

11



TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31,2017

focus of governmental and proprietary fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is
presented in a separate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented in a single column. The
fiduciary funds are reported by type.

Fund Accounting

The Town uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as a fiscal and
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. The Town employs the use of three categories of
funds: governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.

1. Governmental Funds;

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed.
Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial resources.
Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purposes for which
they may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid. The
difference between governmental fund assets plus deferred outflows of resources and liabilities plus
deferred inflows of resources is reported as fund balance. The following are the Town’s major
governmental funds:

The General Fund is the main operating fund of the Town and is used to account for all financial
resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

The TIF District Fund accounts for the financial transactions related to improvements to the Soucook
River Tax Increment Financing District.

2. Proprietary Funds:

Proprietary fund reporting focuses on the determination of operating income, changes in net position,
financial position and cash flows. Proprietary funds are classified as enterprise or internal service, The
Town has no internal service funds. The following are the Town’s major proprietary funds:

The Water and Sewer Funds account for all revenues and expenses pertaining to the Town’s water and
wastewatet operations, The Water and Sewer Funds are utilized to account for operations that are
financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises. The stated intent is that the cost
(i.e. expenses including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the residents on a continuing basis
are financed or recovered primarily through user charges.

3. Fiduciary Funds:

Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The fiduciary fund category
has one classification: agency funds. The Town’s agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal
Jiabilities) and do not involve the measurement of results of operations. The Town’s agenoy funds account
for the capital reserve and other funds of the Pembroke School District, which are held by the Town’s
Trustees of Trust Funds in accordance with State law. The Town also accounts for certain performance
deposits in its agency funds.

12



TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2017

Measurement Focus
1. Government-Wide Financial Statements:

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus. All assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources associated
with the operation of the Town are included on the Statement of Net Position.

2. Fund Financial Statements:

All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources measurement focus.
With this measurement focus, only current assets, deferred outflows of resources, current liabilities, and
deferred inflows of resources generally are included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances reports on the sources (i.e., revenues and other financing
sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) of current financial resources. This
approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of the government-wide financial
statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore include a reconciliation with
brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-wide statements and the
statements for governmental funds.

Like the government-wide statements, the proprietary fund type is accounted for on a flow of economic
resources measurement focus. All assets, deferred outflows of resources, labilities, and deferred inflows
of resources associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position.
The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents increases (i.e., revenues) and
decreases (i.e., expenses) in total net position. The statement of cash flows provides information about
how the Town finances and meets the cash flow needs of its proprietary activities.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on
the financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting. Proprietary and fiduciary funds also use the accrual basis of accounting. Governmental funds
use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and the modified accrual basis of
accounting arise in the recognition of revenue and in the presentation of expenses vetsus expenditures.

1. Revenues — Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions:

Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal
value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis,
revenue is recorded in the year in which the resources are measurable and become available. Available
means that the resources will be collected within the current year or are expected to be collected soon
enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the cutrent year. For the Town, available means expected
to be received within sixty days of year end.

Non-exchange transactions, in which the Town receives value without directly giving equal value in
return, include property taxes, grants, entitlements and donations, On an accrual basis, revenue from
property taxes is recognized in the year for which the taxes are levied (see Note 12). Revenue from grants,
entitlements and donations is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements have been

13



TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2017

satisfied, Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources
are required to be used or the year when use is first permitted; matching requirements, in which the Town
must provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose; and expenditure requirements, in which
the resources are provided to the Town on a reimbursement basis. On a modified accrual basis, revenue
from non-exchange transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and
available at year end: property taxes, charges for services and interest on investments,

Licenses and permits and miscellaneous revenues are recorded as revenues when received in cash because
they are generally not measurable uniil actually received.

Grants and entitlements received before the eligibility requirements are met are recorded as advances
from grantors. On governmental fund financial statements, receivables that will not be collected within
the available period have been reported as deferred inflows of resources.

2. Expenses/Expenditures:

On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are incwrred. The
measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources
(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in
which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable, Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and
amortization are not recoguized in governmental funds.

Budgetary Data

The Town's budget represents functional appropriations as authorized by annual or special Town
meetings. The Selectmen may transfer funds between operating categories as they deem necessaty. The
Town adopts its budget under State regulations, which differ somewhat from accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America in that the focus is on the entire governmental unit
rather than on the basis of fund types.

State law requires balanced budgets but permits the use of beginning fund balance to reduce the property
tax rate. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Town applied $450,000 of its unassigned fund
balance to reduce taxes.

Investiments

Investments are stated at their fair value in all funds. Certificates of deposit and repurchase agreements
with a maturity of greater than ninety days from the date of issuance are included in investments,

Inventory

On government-wide financial statements, inventories are presented at the lower of cost or market on a
first-in, first-out basis and are expensed when used.

On fund financial statements, inventories of governmental funds are stated at cost. Cost is determined on
a first-in, first out basis. Inventory in governmental funds consists of expendable supplies held for

14



TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31,2017

consumption. The cost of inventory items is recorded as an expenditure in the governmental fund types
when purchased.

Capital Assets

General capital assets result from expenditures in the governmental funds. These assets are reported in the
government-wide statement of net position, but are not reported in the governmental fund financial
statements.

All capital assets including infrastructure and intangible assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated
historical cost) and updated for additions and retirements during the year. Donated capital assets are
recorded at their estimated acquisition values as of the date received. The Town maintains a capitalization
threshold of $10,000. The Town’s infrastructure consists of roads, water purification and distribution
system, sewer collection and treatment system, and similar items. Improvements are capitalized; the costs
of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend an asset’s
life are not. Interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is
also capitalized.

The Town is not required to retroactively report its general infrastructure (e.g. roads, bridges and
sidewalks) or its intangible assets (e.g. easements). Infrastructure records have been maintained effective
January 1, 2004 and are included in these financial statements.

All reported capital assets except for land, easements with an indefinite life, and construction in progress
are depreciated. Improvements are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital
assets, Useful lives for infrastructure were estimated based on the Town’s historical records of necessary
improvements and replacement. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the
following useful lives:

Deseription Years
Intangible assets 10
Infrastructure 40
Buildings and improvements 40
Vehicles and equipment 5-30

Compensated Absences

Full time employees accrue sick leave days at a rate of four hours for each calendar month of service.
Regular part time employces accrue sick leave at a pro-rated rate based on the number of hours of
employment. Both full and part time employees may accrue sick leave cumulative to a maximum of 96
hours. Upon reaching the maximum accumulation of 96 hours, the employee shall be paid for 48 hours of
the accumulated sick leave and shall have 48 hours of accumulated sick leave remaining. Upon voluntary
termination or retirement, an employee will be compensated for a maximum of 40 unused sick leave
hours at the current rate of pay. No payment for unused sick leave is made upon involuntary termination.
Town employees earn vacation at 80-200 hours per year dependent on length of service. Vacation can
only be accrued up to 80 hours, A provision has been made in the financial statements for accrued/unused
vacation.
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TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2017

For governmental fund financial statements, compensated absences are reported as liabilities and
expenditures as payments come due each period upon the occurrence of employee death or retirement.
The entire compensated absence liability is reported on the government-wide financial statements.

Bond Premium

Bond premiums are amortized as a component of interest expense over the life of the related bond using
the effective interest rate method. Bonds payable are reported in the accompanying financial statements
gross of any applicable unamortized bond premium,

Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities, and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements. In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in
a timely manner and in full from current resources, are reported as obligations of the funds. However,
compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as liabilities in the fund
financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the current year. General
obligation bonds and other long-term obligations that will be paid from governmental funds are
recognized as a liability in the fund financial statements when due.

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension Hability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
New Hampshire Retirement System (NHRS) and additions to/deductions from NHRS's fiduciary net
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by NHRS. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms,

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances on any borrowings used for the
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there
are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the Town or
through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.
Unrestricted net position is the net amount of the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the determination of net investment in capital assets
or the restricted components of net position.

The Town’s policy is to first apply restricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for
which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available.
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Fund Balance Policy

Under GASB Statement 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, the
Town has segregated fund balance into five classifications: Nonspendable, Restricted, Committed,
Assigned, and Unassigned. The components of fund balance are defined as follows:

o Nonspendable Fund Balance: Amounts that are not in a spendable form (such as inventory or
prepaid expenses) or are required to be maintained intact (such as principal of an endowment
fund).

s Restricted Fund Balance: Amounts that can only be spent for specific purposes, such as grant,
libraty, income balance of permanent funds, and capital project funds that cannot change purpose.
Restrictions may be changed or lifted only upon the consent of the external resource provider or
enabling legislation,

o Commitled Fund Balance: Amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to a
formal vote at Town Meetings; such as expendable trust funds, non-lapsing appropriations, and
other special revenue funds not listed under restricted and can change purpose via a vote at Town
Meeting,

o Assigned Fund Balance: Amounts intended by the Board for specific purposes. For all
governmental funds other than the General Fund, any remaining positive amounts are to be
classified as “assigned.” Ttems that fall under this classification for the General Fund would be
encumbrances properly approved by contract, purchase order, or other such actions as required.

o Unassigned Fund Balance: Amounts that are not obligated or specifically designated and is
available for any purpose. The residual classification of any General Fund balance is to be
reported here. Any deficit balance of another fund is also classified as unassigned.

Spending Priovitization

In instances where expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund
balance is available, restricted fund balance is considered to have been spent first.

When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance
classifications can be used, committed amounts should be reduced first, followed by assigned amounts
and then unassigned amounts.

Minimum Level of Unassigned Fund Balance

The Board will strive to maintain an unassigned fund balance in its General Fund equal to the guidelines
established by the NH Government Finance Officers Association (NHGFOA) which are as follows:

o Retention of 8% to 17% of regular General Fund operating revenues or no less than 2 months of
General Fund operating expenditures, This is calculated by adding the municipality’s General
Fund operating appropriations, the state education tax amount, the local school net tax
commitment, and the county appropriation.
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Interfund Activity

Exchange transactions between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as expenditures/
expenses in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without a requirement
for repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are reported as other financing
sources/uses in governmental funds and after non-operating revenues/expenses in the proprietary funds.
Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures/expenses to the funds that initially paid
for them are not presented in the financial statements,

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the
proprietary funds. For the water fund and sewer fund, these revenues are charges to customers for sales
and services. Operating expenses, which include depreciation on capital assets, ate necessary costs
incurred to provide the service that is the primary activity of the proprietary fund, All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses,

Esfimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect cettain
reported amounts and disclosures, Accordingly, actual results may differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2--DEPQSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Deposits and investments as of December 31, 2017 are classified in the accompanying financial
statements as follows:

Statement of Net Position;

Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,196,138
Investments 108,049
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position;
Cash and cash equivalents 1,051,343
Investments 988,126
Total deposits and investments § 20,343,656

Deposits and investments as of December 31, 2017 consist of the following:

Cash on hand b 1,198
Deposits with financial institutions 19,276,506
Investments 1,065,952

Total deposits and investments $ 20,343,656

The Town limits its investments to United States Treasury securities maturing in less than one year, fully
insured or collateralized certificates of deposits in either local or national banks and overnight repurchase
agreements in accordance with New Hampshire State law (RSA 41:29) or the New Hampshire Public
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Deposit Investment Pool (NHPDIP), an external investment pool. Responsibility for the investments of
the Trust Funds is with the Board of Trustees.

Credit Risk

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfil! its obligation to the holder
of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical
rating organization.

The Town’s policy for its governmental and proprietary funds addresses credit risk by limiting
investments to the safest types of securities and diversifying the investment portfolio. The Trustees of
Trust Funds® investment policy addresses credit risk by limiting investments on the un-expendable
portion of trust funds in high grade equity investments, common stock, and mutual funds. The following
is the actual rating at year end for each investment type:

investment Type Not rated
Open end mutual funds $ 77,456
Closed end mutual funds 8,721
Money market mutual funds 66,108
s 152285

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Town’s deposits may
not be returned to it. The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of
the counterparty to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or
collateral securities that are in the possession of another party.

The Town’s policy for its governmental and proprietaty funds addresses custodial credit risk by stating
that all deposits are to be fully collateralized. The investment policy of the Trustees of Trust Funds
specifies that short term funds and capital reserve funds are to be invested in money market or regular
savings accounts when collateralization is not an issue,

Of the Town’s deposits at year end, $17,873,540 was collateralized by securities held by the bank in the
bank’s name, and $30,835 was uninsured and uncoliateralized.

As of December 31, 2017, Town investments in the following investment types were held by the same
counterparty that was used to buy the securities:

Reported

Investinent Type Amount
Equity securities $ 913,667
Closed end mutual funds 8,721
$ 922,388
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Fair Value

The Town categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair
value of the asset. Level I inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs
are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

The Town has the following recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2017:

Fair Value Measurements Using:
Quoted prices

in active Significant Significant
markets for observable  unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
Deseription (Level 1} (Level 2) {Level 3)
Investments by fair value level:
Equity securities $ 913,667 $ 913,667
Closed end mutval funds 8,721 8,721
$ 522,388 $ 922388 3 - 3 -

NOTE 3—CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:

Water Sewer
Fund Fund Totals
Cash and cash equivalents $ 54,628 $ 687,545 $§ 742,173
Due from other funds 422,114 513,578 935,692
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 476,742 $ 1,201,123 $ 1,677,865

NOTE 4—TAXES RECEIVABLE

Taxes levied during the current year and prior and uncollected at December 31, 2017 are recorded as
receivables net of reserves for estimated uncollectibles of $87,000.

NOTE 5—ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable are recorded net of reserves for estimated uncollectibles of $416,848 in the
ambulance fund (a nonmajor governmental fund) and $36,516 in the sewer fund.

NOTE 6—CAPITAL ASSETS

The following is a summary of changes in capital assets in the Town’s governmental activities:
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Governmental activities:
Capital assets not depreciated:
Land
Easements
Construgtion in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated
Other capital assets:
Intangible assets
Infrastructure
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles and equipment
Total other capital assets at historical cost
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Intangible assets
Infrastructure
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles and equipment
Total accumulated depreciation
Total other capital assets, net
Total capital assets, net

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:

General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Culture and recreation

Total governmental activitics depreciation expense

The following is a summary of changes in capital assets in the Town’s business-type activities:

Business-type activities:
Capital assets not depreciated:

Land

Construction in progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated
Other capital assets:

Intangible assets

Building and improvements

Water infrastructure

Sewer infrastructure

Machinery, vehicles, and equipment

Other

Total other capital assets at historical cost

Balance Balance
01/01/17 Additions Reductions 12/31/17
$ 2,602,925 $ 2,602,925
608,579 608,579
2,920,560 § 1,667,992 § (1,497,751) 3,090,801
6,132,064 1,667,992 (1,497,751) 6,302,305
60,960 60,960
4,843,835 1,360,820 6,204,655
3,884,886 3,884,886
6,113,358 719,348 {153,055) 6,679,651
14,903,039 2,080,168 (153,055) 16,830,152
{24,384) (6,096) {30,480)
(838,196) (155,116) (993,312)
(2,925,760) {46,030) (2,971,790)
(3,792,738) (275,910) 153,055 (3,915,593)
{7,581,078) (483,152) 153,055 (7,911,175)
7,321,961 1,597,016 - 8,218,977
$ 13454025 § 3,265,008 § (1,497,751) § 15221282
§ 44,407
131,016
306,514
1,215
ETINED
Balance Balance
01/01/17 Additions Reductions 12/31/17
$ 72,831 3 72,831
342952 3 449,710 792,662
415,783 449710 § - 865,493
41,900 41,900
272,333 272,333
2,907,639 87,235 (129,406) 2,865,468
3,417,224 3,417,224
3,323,459 107,849 (191,237) 3,240,071
29,865 29,865
9,992,420 195,084 (320,643) 9,866,861
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Balance Balance
01/01/17 Additions Reductions 12/31/17

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Intangible assets (14,180) (4,190) (18,370)
Building and improvements (220,217) (5,790) {226,007)
Water infrastructure (1,061,281) (65,334) 123,508 (1,003,107)
Sewer infrastructure (2,183,947 (113,908) (2,297,855)
Machinery, vehicles, and equipment (1,954,621) (96,830) 174,948 (1,876,503)
Other (29,865) (29,865)
Total accumulated depreciation (3,464,111) (286,052) 298,456 (5,451,707
Total other capital assets, nef 4,528,309 (90,968) {22,187) 4,415,154
Total capital assets, net $ 4944092 § 358742 0§ (22,187) § 5,280,647

Depreciation expense was charged to the proprietary funds as follows:

Water Fund $§ 155,567
Sewer Fund 130,485
Total business-type activities depreciation expense $ 286,052

NOTE 7—INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS

The Town combined the cash resources of its governmental fund types. For accounting and reporting
purposes, that portion of the pooled cash balance is reported in the specific fund as an interfund balance.
The Expendable Trust Funds (reported within the General Fund) consist of temporarily investing funds
applicable to other funds within the Town. Interfund balances at December 31, 2017 are as foliows:

onmajor
General Governmental
Fund Funds Totals
General Fund $ 1,829,709 $ 1,829,709
TIF District Fund $ 44,092 44,092
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 849,925 849,925
Water Fund 422,114 422,114
ewer Fund 513,578 513,578

3 1,829,709  § 1,829,709 § 3,659418

During the year, several interfund transactions occurred between funds. The transfer out of the General
Fund was made in accordance with budgetary authorizations. During the year ended December 31, 2017,
the Road Improvements Capital Projects Fund (a nonmajor governmental fund) was closed and the
unexpended balance of $36,330 was transferred to the General Fund. Transfers during the year ended
December 31, 2017 are as follows:
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Nonmajor
General Governmental
Fund Funds Totals
General Fund $ 36330 £ 36,330
Nonmajor Governmental Funds ~ §_ 226,632 226,632

$ 226632 $ 36330 $ 262962

NOTE 8—LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Changes in Long-Term Obligations
The changes in the Town’s long-term obligations for the year ended December 31, 2017 are as follows:

Balance Balance Due Within
01/01/17 Additiong Reductions 1231417 One Yeat

Governmental activities:

Bonds payable $ 1,250,000 $ (38%0,000) § 870,000 § 370,000
Unamertized bond premium 20,912 {15,732) 5,180
‘Total bonds payable 1,270,912 § - (395,732) 875,180 370,000
Tax increment financing bonds payable 3,001,000 3,001,000 201,000
Unamortized bond premium 499,000 499,000
Tota! tax increment firancing bonds payable - 3,500,000 - 3,500,000 201,000
Bond anticipation notes payable 3,500,000 {3,500,000) -
Compensated absences payable 36,412 7,732 {3,917) 40,227
Total governmental activities $4,807,324 % 3,507,732 5 (3.899,619) §4415407 § 571,000
Business-type activities:
Notes payable £ 579926 $  (79,422) § 500504 § 82,550
Other long-term obligations 223502 $§ 554,963 778,465
Total business-type activities $ 803428 § 554963 % (79422) $1278969 § 82,550

Payments on the general obligation bonds and bond anticipation notes of the governmental activities are
paid out of the General Fund and the TIF District Fund, respectively. Payments on the notes payable of
the business-type activities are paid out of the Water Fund. Compensated absences payable will be paid
from the fund where the employee’s salary is paid.

Governmental Activities

Bonds payable

Bonds payable at December 31, 2017 are comprised of the following individual issues:
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$2,560,000, 2003 Safety complex and refiinding, due in annual
installments of $100,000 through July 2023; interest at 3.25-4.6% $ 600,000

$832,000, 2014 Roadway Improvement bonds, due in varying
annual installments of $270,000 - $282,000 through February 2018;

interest at 5.10% 270,000
870,000

Add: Unamortized bond premium 5,180

$ 875980

Debt service requirements to retire general obligation bonds outstanding for governmental activitics at
December 31, 2017 are as follows:

Year Ending

December 31 Principal Interest Totals
2018 $ 370,000 $ 33,835 $ 403,835
2019 100,000 22,600 122,600
2020 100,000 18,150 118,150
2021 100,000 13,650 113,650
2022 100,000 9,150 109,150
2023 100,000 4,600 104,600
Total 870,000 101,985 971,985

Add: Bond Premium 5,180 5,180

$ 875180 $ 101,985 $ 977,165

Tax increment financing bonds payable

The Town has pledged a portion of future tax increment financing revenues to repay $3,001,000 in tax
increment bonds issued in July 2017 to finance the construction of Loop Road. The bonds are payable
solely from the tax increment financing taxes. Incremental taxes were projected to produce in excess of
100% of the debt service requirements over the life of the bonds. For the current year, principal and
interest paid and total tax increment finance revenues were $29,050 and $379,387, respectively.

Tax increment financing bonds payable at December 31, 2017 is comprised of the following individual
issue:

$3,001,000, 2017 Tax increment financing bonds, due in an annual
installment of $201,000 in August 2018 and annual installments of
$200,000 thereafter until August 2032; interest at 4,10-5,10% $ 3,001,000

Add: Unamortized bond premium 499,000
| $ 3,500,000

Debt service requirements to retire tax increment financing bonds outstanding for governmental activities
at December 31, 2017 are as follows:
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Year Ending

December 3] Principal Interest Totals
2018 $ 201,000 $ 157,944 $ 358,944
2019 200,000 134,800 334,800
2020 200,000 124,600 324,600
2021 200,000 114,400 314,400
2022 200,000 104,200 304,200
2023-2027 1,000,000 368,000 1,368,000
2028-2032 1,000,000 125,000 1,125,000
Total 3,001,000 1,128,944 4,129,944
Add: Bond Premium 499,000 499,000

$ 3,500,000 3 1,128,944 $ 4,628,944

Business-type Activities

Notes payable
The notes payable at December 31, 2017 are comprised of the following individual issues:

$450,000, 2011 Water line construction note, due in monthly
installments of $4,556, including interest at 4,00%, through April 2021 $ 170,625

$250,000, 2015 Water line construction note, due in monthly
installments of $2,449, including interest at 3.30%, through May 2023 193,143

$216,000, 2009 Water Works promissory note, due in monthly

installments of $1,308, including interest at 4.00%, through

February 28, 2019, and a balloon payment for the principal balance

and accrued interest on March 31,2019 136,736
$ 500,504

Debt service requirements to retire the notes payable for business-type activities at December 31, 2017
are as follows:

Year Ending
December 31 Principal Interest Totals
2018 $ 82,550 $ 17,206 $ 99,756
2019 201,218 10,411 211,629
2020 17,977 6,281 84,058
2021 44,078 3,736 47,814
2022 26,657 2,728 29,385
2023-2025 68,224 2,822 71,046

$ 500,504 $ 43,184  § 543,688
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Other Long-Term Obligations

The Town has drawn $778,465 of approximately $800,000 in funds under the State of New Hampshire
Water Pollution Control Revolving Loan Fund Program for the Bow Lane Pump Station Upgrade and
Asset Management Plan. The Town shall be provided financial assistance, contingent upon the
availability of funds, whereby up to 5% of the total disbursements for wastewater related portions, not to
exceed $40,000, will be forgiven upon the initial repayment of the loan, An additional $30,000 in
principal forgiveness, contingent upon the availability of funds, will be applied to the loan upon the initial
repayment if the Town has in place an asset management plan for the wastewater system that meets the
State’s guidelines.

Payments are not scheduled to commence until the first day of the month following the first anniversary
of the substantial completion date of the project or the first anniversary of the scheduled completion date
of the project, whichever is earlier. The scheduled completion date is August 2, 2018. Interest is acctued
at 1% during the construction period of the project and is to be paid upon completion of the construction
project within the following year,

Aurhorized and Unissued Debt

As of December 31, 2017, the Town had the following debt authorized and unissued:

Deseription Amount
Leop Road construction $ 999,000
Roadway improvement and reconstruction 904,000
Bow Lane pumping station 800,000
Water line improvements 50,000
$ 2,753,000

NOTE 9—LANDFILL POST-CLOSURE CARE COSTS

State and federal laws and regulations require that the Town place a final cover on its landfill when closed
and perform certain maintenance and meonitoring functions at the landfill site for thirty years after closure.
The Town’s landfill was closed during 2012. An estimated liability has been recorded based on the future
post-closure care costs that will be incurred. The estimated liability for landfill post-closure care costs has
a balance of $175,000 as of December 31, 2017. The estimated total current cost of the post-closure care
is based on the amount that would be paid if all equipment, facilities, and services required to close,
monitor and maintain the landfill were acquired as of December 31, 2017. However, the actual cost of
post-closure care may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in landfill laws and
regulations.

The following is a summary of changes in the estimated liability for post-closure care cost for the year
ended December 31, 2017:

Balance - January 1, 2017 $ 182,000
Change in estimated liability {5,321)
Expenditores recognized in General Fund (1,679

Balance - December 31, 2017 $ 175,000
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NOTE 10-—DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN
Plan Description

The Town contributes to the New Hampshire Retirement System (NHRS), a component unit of the State
of New Hampshire, as defined in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 67,
Financial Reporting for Pension Plans - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 25, The New Hampshire
Retirement System is a public employee retirement system that administers a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan. The plan provides service, disability, death and vested retirement
allowances to plan members and beneficiaries. Benefit provisions are established and may be amended by
the New Hampshire State legislature.

The NHRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information for NHRS. That report may be obtained by writing to New Hampshire
Retirement System, 54 Regional Drive, Concord, New Hampshire 03301, or from their website at
www.nhrs.org.

Substantially all full-time state and local employees, public school teachers, permanent firefighters and
permanent police officers within the State are eligible and required to participate in the Pension Plan.

The Pension Plan is divided into two membership groups. State and local employees and teachers belong
to Group L. Police and firefighters belong to Group I1. All assets are held in a single trust and are available
to pay retirement benefits to all members.

Benefits Provided

Group I members at age 60 or 65 (for members who commence service after July 1, 2011) qualify for a
normal service retirement allowance based on years of creditable service and average final salary for the
highest of either three or five years, depending on when their service commenced. The yearly pension
amount is 1/60 or 1.667% of average final compensation (AFC), multiplied by years of creditable service.
At age 65, the yearly pension amount is recalculated at 1/66 or 1.515% of AFC multiplied by years of
creditable service.

Group 11 members vested by January 1, 2012, who ate age 60, or members who are at least age 45 with at
least 20 years of creditable service, can receive a retirement allowance at a rate of 2.5% of AFC for each
year of creditable service, not to exceed 40 years. Members commencing service on or after July 1, 2011
or members who have not attained status as of January 1, 2012 can receive a retirement allowance at age
52.5 with 25 years of service or age 60, The benefit shall be equal to 2% of AFC times creditable service
up to 42.5 years. However, 4 member who commenced service on or after July 1, 2011 shall not receive a
retirement ailowance until attaining the age of 52.5, but may receive a reduced allowance after age 50 if
the member has at least 25 years of creditable service whete the allowance shall be reduced, for each
month by which the benefit commencement date precedes the month after which the member attains 52.5
years of age by % of 1%, For Group Il members who commenced service prior to July 1, 2011, who have
not attained vested status prior to January 1, 2012, benefits are calculated depending on age and years of
creditable service as follows:
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Yeats of Creditable Service as of Minimum Benefit
January 1, 2012 Mininnun Age Service Multiplier
At least 3 but less than 10 years 46 21 2.4%
At Ieast 6 but less than § years 47 22 23%
At least 4 but less than 6 years 48 23 2.2%
Less than 4 vears 49 24 2.1%

Members may qualify for vested deferred allowances, disability allowances and death benefit allowances
subject to meeting various eligibility requitements, Benefits are based on AFC or earnable compensation
and/or service.

Funding Policy

Covered police officers and firefighters are required to contribute 11.55% and 11.80%, respectively of
their covered salary, whereas general employees are required to contribute 7.0% of their covered salary.
The Town is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate, The Town's pension contribution
rates for the covered payroll of police officers, firefighters, and general employees were 22.54%, 25.32%,
and 10.86%, respectively through June 30, 2017, and 25.33%, 27.79%, and 11.08%, respectively
thereafter. The Town contributed 100% of the employer cost for public safety and general employees of
the Town.

Per RSA-100:16, plan member contribution rates are established and may be amended by the New
Hampshire State legislature and employer contribution rates are determined by the NHRS Board of
Trustees based on an actuarial valuation. The Town's pension contributions to the NHRS were $316,952
for the year ending December 31, 2017,

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At December 31, 2017, the Town reported a liability of $3,939,762 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by a roll forward of the actuarial
valuation from June 30, 2016. The Town’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on actual
contributions by the Town during the relevant fiscal year relative to the actual contributions of all
participating plan members, excluding contributions to separately finance specific liabilities of individual
employers or NHRS. At June 30, 2017, the Town’s proportion was approximately 0,0801 percent, which
was an increase of 0.0021 percentage points from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2016.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Town recognized pension expense of $480,755. At

December 31, 2017, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pension from the following sources:
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Deferred Deferred
Qutflows of  Inflows of
Resources Resources
Ditferences between expected and actual experience $ 8,933 & 50,142
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments 50,175
Changes of assumptions 395,602
Changes in proportion and differences between Town
contributions and share of contributions 179,701 21,392
Town contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 170,642
Totals $ 754,878 § 121,709

The net amount of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension is
reflected as an increase to unrestricted net position in the amount of $633,169. The Town reported
$170,642 as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from Town contributions
subsequent to the measurement date. This amount will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the measurement period ended June 30, 2018, Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense in
the measurement periods as follows:

June 30,
2018 $ 135362
2019 223,509
2020 150,835
2021 (47,179)

$ 462527

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by a roll forward of the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016,
using the following actuarial assumptions:

Tnflation 2.5 percent

Wage inflation 3.25 percent

Salary increases 5.6 percent, average, including inflation

Investment rate of return 7.25 percent, net of pension plan investment expense,

including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 employee generational mortality tables for males and females,
adjusted for mortality improvements using Scale MP-2015, based on the last experience study,
Retirement rates were based on a table of rates that are specific to the type of eligibility condition, last
updated in 2015 pursuant to an experience study of the period July 1, 2010 — June 30, 2015.
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of
return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation, The target allocation and
best sstimates of weighted average long-term expected real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Weighted Average Long-Term
Expected Real Rate of Return

Asset Class Target Allocation MNet of inflation assumption of 3.25%)
Fixed income 25% (0.25)-2,11%
Domestic equity 30% 4,25-4,50%
International equity 20% 4.75-6.25%
Real estate 10% 3.25%
Private equity % 6.25%
Private debt 5% 4,75%
Opportunistic % 2.84%
Total 100%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the collective pension liability was 7.25%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between
actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. For purposes of the projection, member
contributions and employer service cost contributions are projected based on the expected payroll of
current members only, Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments to current plan members.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the collective pension liability.

Sensitivity of the Town’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount
Rate

The foliowing presents the Town's proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 7.25 percent, as well as what the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension lability
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or l-percentage-point
higher than the single discount rate:

1% Decrease BDiscount rate 1% Increase
{6.25%) (7.25%) (8.25%)
Town's proportionate share of the
net pension lability $ 5,190,412 3 3,939,742 § 2,914,867
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NOTE 11--OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Town provides implicit post-employment medical benefits
to its eligible retirees and their spouses. General employees hired prior to July 1, 2011 must reach age 50
with 10 years of service, obtain 20 years of service and 70 points (the sum of age plus years of service) or
reach age 60 with no service requirement to qualify for this benefit. General employees hired after July 1,
2011 must reach age 65 with no service requirement or reach age 60 with 30 years of service to quality
for this benefit. Public safety employees hired prior to July 1, 2011 are required to reach age 45 with 20
years of service or reach age 60 with no service requirement to qualify for this benefit. Public safety
employees hired after July 1, 2011 are required to reach age 50 with 25 ycars of service, reach age 52.5
with 25 years of service, or reach age 60 with no service requitement to qualify for this benefit. Retirees
pay the full cost of the health care coverage. This valuation does not account for the cost of benefits to
retirees or their spouses after age 65. Surviving beneficiaries continue to receive medical coverage after
the death of the eligible retired employee as long as they pay the required premiums. This valuation does
not account for the cost of benefits to survivors. The benefits, benefit levels, employee contributions and
employer contributions are governed by RSA 100-A:50. As of January 1, 2016, the actuarial valuation
date, participants of the postretirement plan that mest eligibility requirements are comprised of 4 retirees
and 34 active employees with 11 currently eligible to retire. The plan does not issue a separate financial
report.

Annual OPEB Costs

The Town’s fiscal 2017 annual OPEB expense is calculated based on the annual required contribution of
the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined using the alternative measurement method in
accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if
paid, on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover the normal cost each year and amortize the unfunded
actuarial liability over a period of thirty years. The Town’s annual OPEB cost for the year ending
December 31, 2017 including the amount actually contributed to the plan, and the change in the Town’s
net OPEB obligation based on an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2016 is as follows:

Annual required contribution $ 67,532
Interest on net OPEB obligation 3,251
NOO amortization adjustment to ARC (3,230)
Annual OPEB cost 67,553
Contributions made (70,167)
Increase in net OPEB obligation (2,614)
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year 81,280
Net OPEB obligation - end of year $ 78,6606

The Town’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net
OPEB obligation for the years ending December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Percentage of

Year Annual OPEB Cost Net OPEB
Ended OPEB Cost Contributed Obligation
12/31/2017 § 67,553 103.8% $ 78,660
12/31/2016 $ 67,553 95.3% $ 81,280
12/31/2015 $ 64,5713 107.3% $ 78,100
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The Town’s net OPEB obligation as of December 31, 2017 is recognized as a liability in these financial
statements.

Funded Status and Funding Progress for OPEB

The funded status of the plan as of Januvary 1, 2016, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation is as
follows:

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) $ 868,754
Actuarial value of plan assets -
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (JAAL) $ 868,754
Funded ratio {actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0.0%
Covered payroll (active plan members) $ 2,040,660
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 42.6%

The alternative measurement valuation involves estimates of the value of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of events in the future. The total cost of providing post-employment
benefits is projected, taking into account assumptions about current claim cost, turnover, mortality, health
care trends, and other actuarial assumptions. Internally generated key assumptions, based on recent trends
within the Town, include general considerations, expected point at which benefits begin, and marital
dependency status, Mortality assumptions were derived from the RPH-2015 Total Dataset Mortality
Table fully generational using Scale MP-2015. The assumption on health care trends was provided by an
independent company that assisied the Town in the preparation of the alternative measurement method for
GASB 45. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required
contributions of the employer are subject to continval revision as actual results are compared to past
expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The required schedule of funding progress
presented as required supplementary information provides multi-year trend information that shows
whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial
accrued liability for benefits, when available.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions for OPEB

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the plan as understood by the Town
and the plan members and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the
historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the Town and plan members to that point, Actuarial
calculations reflect a long-term perspective and employ methods and assumptions that are designed to
reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets.

In the January 1, 2016 actuarial valuation, the Projected Unit Credit cost method with linear proration to
decrement was used. The actuarial value of assets was not determined as the Town has not advance
funded its obligation, The actuarial assumptions included a 4.0% investment rate of return and an annual
healthcare cost trend rate of 9.0% initially, and then reduced by 0.5% decrements to an ultimate rate of
5.0% after 9 years. The amortization costs for the initial Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) is
a level percentage of payroll for a period of thirty years on an open group basis. This has been calculated
assuming the amortization payment increases at a rate of 3.0% per year.
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NOTE 12—PROPERTY TAXES

Taxes are levied on the assessed valuation of all taxable real property as of the prior April 1
($660,599,483 as of April 1, 2017) and are due in two instaliments on July 5, 2017 and December 27,
2017. Taxes paid after the due dates accrue interest at 12% per annum. Property taxes are recognized as
revenue when received in cash or if available to finance current period operations (within sixty days of
year end),

Under State law, the Tax Collector obtains tax liens on properties which have unpaid taxes in the
following calendar year after taxes were due for the amount of unpaid taxes, interest and costs. These
priority tax liens accrue interest at 18% per annum. If the property is not redeemed within a two year
redemption petiod, the property may be tax deeded to the Town,

In accordance with State law, the Town collects taxes for the Pembroke School District and Metrimack
County, both independent governmental units, which are remitted to them as required by law. The Town
also collects State of New Hampshire education taxes, which are remitted directly to the school district,
Total taxes appropriated during the year were $13,131,372 and $1,891,367 for the Pembroke School
District and Merrimack County, respectively. These taxes are not recognized as revenues in these
financial statements, At December 31, 2017, the balance of the property tax appropriation due to the
Pembroke School District is $6,131,372. The Town bears responsibility for uncollected taxes.

NOTE 13—RESTRICTED NET POSITION

Net position is restricted for specific purposes as follows:

Governmental
Activities

Permanent Funds - Principal 3 44,201
Permanent Funds - Income 38,307
Tax Increment Financing District 2,048,646
State of NH 8B 38 - Highway Block Grant funding 141,063
K-9 Donations 14,935
Christmas Donations Fund 242
Police Grants Fund 7,849
Grants Fund 7,591
Library Fund 8,235
2,311,069

Less unexpended bond proceeds (2,048,646)
3 262 g423

NOTE 14—COMPONENTS OF FUND BALANCE

The Town’s fund balance components are comprised as follows:
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TIF Nonmajor Total
General District Governmental  Governmental
Fund Balances Fund Fund Funds Funds
Nonspendable:
Permanent Funds - Principal $ 44,201 $ 44,201
Prepaid expenses 3 261 261
Restricted for:
Permanent Funds - Income 38,307 38,307
State of NH SB 38 - Highway Block
Grant funding 141,063 141,063
K-9 Donations 14,935 14,935
Tax Increment Financing District $ 2,048,646 2,048,646
Christmas Donations Fund 242 242
Police Grants Fund 7,849 7,849
Grants Fund 7,591 7,591
Library operations 8,235 8,235
Commitied for:
Police Details Fund 31,539 31,539
Conservation Commission 247,138 247,738
Ambulance Fund 664,472 664,472
Expendable Trust Funds 1,652,895 1,652,895
Encumbrances 335,000 335,000
Assigned for:
Recreation Fund 23,872 23,872
Town Clack Fund 95 95
Carryforward appropriations 58,883 58,883
Encumbrances 209,164 209,164
Unassigned:
Unassigned - General operations 4,643,268 4,643,268

$ 7,063,704 $ 2,048,646  $ 1,065906 3 10,178,256

NOTE 15—RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. During the year ended
December 31, 2017, the Town was a member of and participated in a public entity risk pool (Trust) for
property and liability insurance and worker’s compensation coverage. Coverage has not been significantly
reduced from the prior year and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three years.

The Trust agreements permit the Trust to make additional assessments to members should there be a
deficiency in Trust assets to meet its liabilities. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America require members of pools witha sharing of risk to determine whether or not such
assessment is probable and, if so, a reasonable estimate of such assessment, At this time, the Trust
foresees no likelihood of an additional assessment for any of the past years. Claims expenditures and
liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be
reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported.
Based on the best available information there is no liability at December 31, 2017.
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Property and Liability Insurance

The Trust provides certain property and liability insurance coverage to member towns, cities, and other
qualified political subdivisions of New Hampshire. As a member of the Trust, the Town shares in
contributing to the cost of and receiving benefit from a self-insured pooled risk management program.
The program includes a Self-Insured Retention Fund from which is paid up to $500,000 for each and
every covered property, crime and/or liability loss that exceeds $1,000, up to an aggregate of $5,000,000.
Each property loss is subject to a $1,000 deductible. All losses over the aggregate are covered by
insurance policies.

Worker’s Compensation

The Trust provides statutory worker’s compensation coverage to member towns, cities, and other
qualified political subdivisions of New Hampshire. The Trust is self-sustaining through annual member
premiums and provides coverage for the statutorily required workers’ compensation benefits and

employer’s liability coverage up to $2,000,000. The program includes a Loss Fund from which is paid up
to $500,000 for each and every covered claim,

NOTE 16—CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

The Town's management estimates that any potential claims against the Town, which are not covered by
insurance, are immaterial and would not affect the financial position of the Town.

NOTE 17—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Tax Increment Financing District

Per the March 2018 annual Town meeting, the Soucook River tax increment financing district was
authorized to be discontinued. The anaual debt service payments on the $3,001,000 tax increment bonds

issued during July 2017 will become a general abligation of the Town and paid by the General Fund from
annual appropriations.

Bond Authorization and Issuance
Per Article #3 from the March 2018 annual Town meeting, $1,200,000 was authorized to be issued in
general obligational debt for purposes of roadway improvements. During May 2018, the Town issued

general obligation bonds in the amount of $900,000. These bonds have an interest rate of 2.45% and
mature May 2021.

Other Long-Term Obligations

During April 2018, the Town has drawn down an additional $20,557 on its existing Water Pollution
Control Revolving Loan Fund Program. The total amount drawn down through April 2018 is $799,022.
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Notes Payable

Subsequent to year end, the Town converted its outstanding long-term obligation of $799,022 from the
Water Pollution Control Revolving Loan Fund Program into long-term debt. The Town will receive a
principal forgiveness subsidy of $69,951 in June 2018. The balance of $729,071 is to be repaid in annual
instailments through June 2027 at 2.0%.

NOTE 18— IMPLEMENTATION OF FUTURE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, which the Town is required to
implement in the year ending December 31, 2018, Management believes that this pronouncement will
have a potentially significant impact on the Town’s government-wide financial statements. The Town will
have to report its proportional share of the New Hampshire Retirement System’s unfunded OPEB liability
in the financial statements for the calendar year beginning after June 15, 2017, Additionally, Statement
No. 75 modifies the allowable methods, recognition and measurement criteria related to how the Town
accounts for and reports its single employer OPEB plan, currently disclosed in Note 11.
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SCHEDULE 1
TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) - General Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Revenues:
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Interest and investment income
Miscellaneous
Total Revenues

Expenditures:

Cuirent:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Sanitation
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Eiconomic development

Capital outlay

Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges

Total Expenditures

Excess of revenues over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses);
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources {uses)

Net change in fund balance

Fund balance at beginning of year
- Budgetary Basis

Fund balance at end of year
- Budgetary Basis

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget -
Actual Favorable
Original Final Amounts {Unfavorable)
$ 4,073,485 $ 4,073,485 $ 4,131,181 $ 57,696
1,302,733 1,302,733 1,578,436 275,703
574,839 691,402 696,427 5,025
144,302 144,302 257,367 113,065
15,000 15,000 27,407 12,407
24,001 24,001 32,159 8,158
6,134,360 6,250,923 6,722,977 472,054
1,391,924 1,361,924 1,225,169 166,755
1,858,552 1,858,552 1,767,363 91,189
1,224,973 1,224,973 1,110,212 114,761
269,300 269,300 232,065 37,235
111,388 111,388 62,986 48,402
41,202 41,202 35,880 5,322
355 355 - 355
728,649 631,231 643,520 {12,289)
380,000 380,000 380,000 -
52,111 52,111 52,110 i
6,058,454 5,961,036 35,509,305 451,731
75,906 289,887 1,213,672 923,785
395,176 381,141 383,491 2,350
{921,082) (921,082) {921,082) .
(525,906) (539,941) (337,591 2,350
(450,000} (250,054) 676,081 926,135
4,608,462 4,608,462 4,608,462 -
$ 4,158462 $ 4,358,408 $ 5,284,543 $ 926,135

See accompanying notes lo the required supplementary information
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SCHEDULE 2

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Scheduie of Funding Progress for Other Post-Employment Benefits
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Actuariat
Accrued UAAL asa
Actuarial Actuarial Liability (AAL) -  Unfunded Percentage of
Valuation Value of Projected Unit AAL Funded Covered Covered
Date Assets Credit {UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
1/1/2016 $ - 3 868,754 $ 868,754 0% $ 2,040,660 42.6%
1/1/2013 3 - $ 860,755 $ 860,755 0% $ 1,384,167 62.2%
1/1/2010 b - $ 833,515 $ 833,515 0% $ 1,205,567 69.1%

See accompanying notes to the required supplementary information
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SCHEDULE 3

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Schedule of Changes in the Town's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Town's Town's Proportionate Plan Fiduciary
Town's Proportionate Share of the Net Net Position
Proportion of Share of the Town's Pension Liability (Asset)  as a Percentage
Measurement the Net Pension Net Pension Covered as a Percentage of of the Total
Period Ended Liability Liability Payroll Covered Payroll Pension Liability
June 30, 2017 0.08010873%  $§ 3,939,742  § 2,006,861 196.31% 62.66%
June 30, 2016 0.07805092%  $§ 4,150,432 § 1,928,151 215.25% 58.30%
June 30, 2015 0.07890077%  § 3,125,675 $ 1,883,624 165.94% 65.47%
June 30, 2014 0.07492695% § 2,812,447  § 1,737,816 161.84% 66.32%
June 30, 2013 0.07225856%  § 3,109,853 $ 1,626,500 191.20% 59.81%

See qecompanying notes to the required supplementary information
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SCHEDULE 4

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Schedule of Town Contributions

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Year Bnded

December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016
December 31, 2015
Decentber 31, 2014
December 31, 2013

Contractually
Required
Contributions
£ 316,952
§ 288,064
3 274,113
§ 252319
$ 210,019

Confributions in
Relation to the

Contractually
Required

Contributjons

&3 & o2 o8 95

(316,952)
(288,064)
(274,113)
(252,319)
(210,019)

Contribution
Deficiency

{Excess)

&3 A 5 &9 22

Town's
Covered
Payroll

$ 2,029,574
$ 1,987,834
$ 1,905,664
$ 1,812,810
B 1,683,999

See accompanying notes to the requived supplementary information
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TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
December 31, 2017

NOTE 1—BUDGET TO ACTUAL RECONCILIATION

Amounts recorded as budgetary amounts in the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balance — Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis) — General Fund (Schedule 1) are reported on the
basis budgeted by the Town. Those amounts differ from those reported in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances — Governmental Funds (Exhibit D). Property tax budgetary revenues are
recognized when levied rather than when susceptible to accrual. Budgetary expenditures were adjusted
for encumbrances, Budgetary revenues and expenditures were adjusted for non-budgetary revenues and
expenditures and budgetary transfers as follows:

Revenues Expenditures
and Other and Other
Financing Financing
Sources Uses
Per Exhibit D ¥ 6,755,938 $ 5,886,814
Difference in property taxes meeting
susceptible to accrual criteria 6,525
Encumbrances - December 31, 2017 544,164
Encumbrances - December 31, 2016 (434,464)
Non-budgetary revenues and expenditures (3,156) (260,577)
Budgetary transfers 347,161 694,450
Per Schedule 1 $ 7,106,468 $ 6,430,387

NOTE 2—BUDGETARY FUND BALANCES

The components of the budgetary fund balance for the General Fund are as follows:

Nonspendable:

Prepaid expenses $ 261
Restricted for:

State of NH SB 38 - Highway Block Grant funding 141,063

K~9 Donations 14,935
Assigned for:

Carryforward appropriations 58,883
Unassigned:

Unassigned - General operations 5,069,401

$ 5,284,543

NOTE 3— SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE TOWN’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE
NET PENSION LIABILITY AND SCHEDULE OF TOWN CONTRIBUTIONS

in accordance with GASB Statement #68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, the Town is

required to disclose historical information for each of the prior ten years within a schedule of changes in
the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability and schedule of Town contributions.
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The Town implemented the provisions of GASB Statement #68 during the year ended December 31,
2015. Accordingly, the historic information has only been presented for those years which information
was readily available. Additional disclosures will be made in future years as the information becomes
available.

NOTE 4—CHANGES OF ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

For the measurement period ending June 30, 2016, the New Hampshire Retirement System’s actuarial
valuation included changes in the valuation and economic assumptions used in previous measurement
periods. The investment rate of return was reduced from 7.75% to 7.25%. The price inflation was
decreased from 3.0% to 2.5%. The wage inflation was decreased from 3.75% to 3.25%. The salary
increases were decreased from 5.8% to 5.6%. In addition, the expectation of retired life mortality was
previously based on the RP-2000 Mortality Tables projected to 2020 with Scale AA. Amounts reported
in the June 30, 2016 measurement period are based on the RP-2014 employee generational mortality
table for males and females, adjusted for mortality improvements using Scale MP-2015.
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SCHEDULE A

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Combining Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds - All Nonmajor ¥Funds
December 31, 2017

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Taxes receivable, net
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other governments
Due from other funds

Total Assets

DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESQURCES
Total Deferred Qutflows of Resources
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total Liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances
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Total
Special Total
Revenue Permanent Nonmajor
Funds Funds Funds
$ 30,033 $ 4,682 $ 34,715
77,826 71,826
3,800 3,800
133,542 133,542
6,000 6,000
§49,925 849,925
1,023,300 82,508 1,105,808
$ 1,023,300 § 82508 § 1,105,808
3 11,709 $ 11,709
28,193 28,193
39,902 $ - 39,902
44,201 44,201
15,682 38,307 53,989
943,749 943,749
23,967 23,967
983,398 82,508 1,065,906
$ 1,023,300 $ 82,308 $ 1,105,808
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SCHEDULE B

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds - All Nonmajor Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

Road
Total Improvements
Special Capital Total
Revenue Projects Permanent Nonmajor
Funds Fund Funds Funds
Revenues:
Taxes $ 13,500 5 13,500
Intergovernmental revenue 192,599 192,599
Charges for services 552,836 552,836
Interest and investment income 33 3 350 3 2,784 3,167
Miscellaneous 22,790 22,790
Total Revenues 781,758 350 2,784 784,892
Expenditures:
Current operations:
Public safety 528,949 928,949
Health and welfare 3,500 3,500
Culture and recreation 44,875 44,875
Capital outlay 1,275 1,275
Total Expenditures 977,324 1,275 - 978,599
Excess of revenues over
{under) expenditures {195,566) 925 2,784 {193,707)
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 226,632 226,632
Transfers out {36,330) {36,330
Total other financing sources (uses) 226,632 (36,330) - 190,302
Net change in fund balances 31,066 (37,255) 2,784 (3,405}
Fund balances at beginning of year 952,332 37,255 79,724 1,069,311
Fund balances at end of year $ 983398 § - $ 82,508 $ 1,065,906
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SCHEDULE C

TOWN OF PEMBROKE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds - All Agency Funds

December 31, 2017

School Performance Totat

Agency Bond Agency Agency

Fund Fund Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,015,574 $ 35769 § 1,051,343
Investments 988,126 088,126
Tatal Assets $ 2,003,700 $ 35769 $ 2,039,469
LIABILITIES

Deposits $ 35,769 $ 35,769
Due to other governments $ 2,003,700 2,003,700
Total Liabilities $ 2,003,700 £ 35769 $ 2,039,469
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:VACHON CLUKAY CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

608 Chestnult Street « Manchester, New Hampshire 03104

&f COMPANY PC (603) 622-7070 = Fax: (603) 622-1452 » www.vachonclukay.com

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL BASED ON
AN AUDIT OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Board of Selectmen
Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities,
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of
Pembroke, New Hampshire (the “Town™) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017, in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the Town’s
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses.
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been
identified.

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of
Selectmen, and others within the organization, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by
anyone other than these specified parties.

U ac/ﬁvv &tég (Q @:’hﬂ?ﬂc‘@/a} 70C
- e

Manchester, New Hampshire
October 31, 2018



:VACHON CLUKAY CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

608 Chestnut Street * Manchester, New Hampshire 03104

& COMPANY PC (603) 622-7070 » Fax: (603) 622-1452 » www.vachonclukay.com

October 31,2018

To the Board of Selectmen
Town of Permbroke, New Hampshire

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities,
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of
Pembroke, New Hampshire for the year ended December 31, 2017, we considered the Town's internal
control structure to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
basic financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control structure.

However, during our audit we became aware of a matter that is an opportunity for strengthening
internal controls and operating efficiency. The memorandum that accompanies this letter summarizes
our comments and suggestions regarding this matter. We previously reported on the Town's internal
control structure in our report dated October 31, 2018. This letter does not affect that report or our report
on the basic financial statements dated October 31, 2018,

We have already discussed these comments and suggestions with various Town personnel, and
we will be pleased to discuss them in further detail at your convenience, to perform additional study of
these matters, or to assist you in implementing the recommendations.

The purpose of this letter is to provide constructive and meaningful recommendations to you.

Sincerely

Decllon (L. € KW pe

Vachon Clukay & Company PC



CREDIT CARD DISBURSEMENTS
Observation
As part of every audit engagement, our firm examines credit card purchases for proper documentation
and propriety of expenditures. We noted that purchase receipts for credit card charges applicable to the
library are not being consistently retained for documentation.

Implication

The controls over library expenditures are weakened. Impropet expenditures may be made using the
Town's credit card which may go undetected without adequate controls.

Recommendation

We recommend that the Library Trustees adopt a formal credit card policy, We also recommend that the
library director be instructed to attach the detailed purchase to monthly credit card statements, The
supporting documentation should indicate what was purchased and that the purchase was approved by the
proper officials.



#VACHON CLUKAY CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

608 Chestnut Street = Manchester, New Hampshire 03104

& COMPANY PC (603) 622-7070 = Fax: (603) 622-1452 = www.vachonclukay.com

October 31, 2018

To the Board of Selectmen
Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire for
the year ended December 31, 2017. Professional standards require that we provide you with information
about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, as well as certain information
related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our
letter to you dated May 2, 2018. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the
following information related to our audit.

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant
accounting policies used by the Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire are described in Note 1 to the
financial statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies
was not changed during 2017. We noted no transactions entered into by the Town of Pembroke, New
Hampshire during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant
transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ
significantly from those expected,

The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements of the Governmental Activities, Business-
type Activities, and major Proprietary Funds were:

Management’s estimates of the useful lives of capital assets are based upon historical
records of utilization, necessary improvements and replacements, We evaluated the key
factors and assumptions used to develop the depreciable useful lives of capital assets in
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a
whole.

Significant estimates also include actuarial assumptions used in determining pension and
other post-employment benefits costs which are based on plan audited financial
statements and a plan actuarial valuation report, respectively. We evaluated the



assumnptions used in the plan audited financial statements and the plan actuarial valuation
repott to determine that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements as a
whole,

The most sensitive estimate affecting the financial statements of the Governmental Activities, Business-
type Activities, General Fund, Sewer Fund and the aggregate remaining information was:

Management’s estimate of the allowance for uncollectible receivables is based on the
likelihood of the Town to collect monies owed to it. We evaluated the key factors and
assumptions used to develop the estimate for uncollectible receivables in determining that
it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our
audit,

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate afl known and likely misstatements identified during the
audit, other than those that are clearly frivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of
management. The attached schedules summarize uncorrected misstatements of the financial statements,
Management has determined that their effects are immaterial, both individvally and in the aggregate, to
the financial statements. Please see the attached schedule of material adjustments detected and corrected
as a result of audit procedures,

Disagreemenis with Management

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the
course of our audit.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated October 31, 2018,

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves
application of an accounting principle to the Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire’s financial statements
or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant
has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants,



Other Audit Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire’s
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and
our responses were not a condition to our retention.

Other Matters

We applied certain limited procedures to the management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary
comparison information, schedule of funding progress for other post-employment benefits, schedule of
changes in the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, schedule of Town contributions,
and the notes to the required supplementary information, which are required supplementary information
(RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of
management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistericy with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements, We did not audit the RSI and
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI,

We were engaged to report on the combining nonmajor fund and fiduciary fund financial statements,
which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI, With respect to this supplementary
information, we made certain inquirics of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of
preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior
period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements.
We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves,

Restriction on Use

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Selectmen and management of the Town of
Pembroke, New Hampshire and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Very truly yours,

Vackon Cldiay ¥ Company PC



Town of Pembroke, New Hampshire
For the year ended 12/31/17
Material Audit Adjustments

The following is a listing of the Material Audit Adjustments made for the year ended 12/31/17:

TIF District Fund:

- To restore the beginning fund balance by $119,121
To reduce retainage payable and expenditures by $115,121,

Sewer Fund:

- To restore the beginning net position figure by $601,996.

- To record the addition of capital assets in the amount of $443,278.

- To record current year depreciation on capital assets in the amount of $130,485.

= To adjust the deferred outflows of resources and net pension liability at year end by $39,410 and
$129,573, respectively.
To adjust for the drawdowns on the State Revolving Loan of $554,963 and repott as a liability.

Aggregate Remaining Information:

To increase the investment balance of the school agency funds in the amount of $§492,598,
To restore the beginning fund balance in the Ambulance Fund by $30,000.

To rastore the beginning fund balance in the Road Capital Projects Fund by $80,864,

To record a transfer out of $80,864 in the Road Capital Projects Fund to the General Fund.
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